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For the reasons described below, plaintiffs Texas Medical Association (“TMA”) and Dr. 

Adam Corley respectfully move for summary judgment on Counts I and II of their complaint.1  

INTRODUCTION 

This action under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) challenges provisions of an 

interim final rule issued by defendants (“the Departments”) in violation of their statutory authority 

and the APA’s notice-and-comment requirement. The rule, entitled “Requirements Related to Sur-

prise Billing; Part II,” 86 Fed. Reg. 55,980 (Oct. 7, 2021) (“September IFR”), implements provi-

sions of the federal surprise medical billing law, the No Surprises Act, Pub. L. No. 116-260, div. 

BB, tit. I, 134 Stat. 1182, 2758–890 (2020) (“NSA”).  

The NSA creates an arbitration process to resolve reimbursement disputes between certain 

out-of-network healthcare providers—i.e., physicians, facilities, and other healthcare providers 

(collectively, “healthcare providers”) who are not within a health insurance plan’s contracted net-

work—and group health plans and health insurance issuers (collectively, “payors”). When a 

healthcare provider and payor cannot agree on the appropriate reimbursement amount for covered 

out-of-network services, either party may initiate arbitration before an independent dispute reso-

lution (“IDR”) entity. The arbitration proceeds “baseball-style”: after each party submits an offer, 

the IDR entity must select one of their offers as the reimbursement amount. To guide the IDR 

entity’s decision, Congress specified a detailed list of factors that the IDR entity “shall” and “shall 

not” consider in determining which party’s offer to select. Congress did not assign primacy to any 

one factor, but rather left it to the IDR entity’s discretion to determine how best to weigh the 

statutory factors in light of all the facts and circumstances of a particular case. 

                                                 
1 Attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibits A and B, respectively, are the 
declarations of TMA’s President, E. Linda Villarreal, MD, and Dr. Corley in support of this mo-
tion. 
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In the September IFR, however, the Departments rewrote the statute under the guise of 

“interpretation.” Without identifying any word or phrase that can even arguably be read to impose 

such a requirement, the Departments claimed that the statute is “best interpret[ed]” to require IDR 

entities always to select the offer closest to the “qualifying payment amount” (“QPA”)—a number 

unilaterally calculated by the payor—unless “credible information” concerning the additional stat-

utory factors “clearly demonstrates” that the QPA is “materially different from the appropriate out-

of-network rate.” The Departments thus read into the statute a “rebuttable presumption” that re-

quires IDR entities to give outsized weight to a single statutory factor, skewing IDR results in 

payors’ favor and granting them a windfall they were unable to obtain in the legislative process. 

For two reasons, the Departments’ presumption is unlawful and must be set aside. First, 

the statute cannot reasonably be read to impose such a presumption. Congress painstakingly de-

scribed the factors IDR entities must consider, and it nowhere provided that the QPA should be 

afforded more weight than the other factors or otherwise indicated that the additional statutory 

factors are second-class considerations relevant only to the extent they overcome a presumption in 

favor of the QPA. If Congress had intended the QPA to be given presumptive weight in determin-

ing healthcare provider reimbursement, it undoubtedly would have said so. In fact, Congress re-

jected proposed bills that have would pegged reimbursement to the QPA. Neither agencies nor 

courts are free to alter statutes by supplying terms that Congress omitted; nor can significant new 

statutory requirements be found lurking in between the statutory lines or in “penumbras and ema-

nations” from statutory provisions that do not speak to the issue at hand. The statute clearly does 

not impose the presumption the Departments invented, and that should be the end of the matter. 

Second, the Departments unlawfully issued the challenged provisions without providing 

notice and comment as required by the APA. The good cause exception the Departments invoked 
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is a narrow safety valve designed to deal with emergency situations where delay would cause 

serious harm. Those exceptional circumstances plainly do not exist here. Congress gave the De-

partments an entire year to promulgate regulations implementing the statute’s IDR provisions—

more than enough time to provide notice and comment. Having waited nine months, the Depart-

ments cannot rely on their own delay to create an exigency justifying bypassing notice and com-

ment. In any event, there was no exigency. Arbitrations will not begin occurring until March 2022, 

five months after the Departments issued the rule. And by setting a deadline of December 27, 2021, 

Congress itself determined there would be sufficient lead time if final IDR rules were in place by 

that date. In rushing to issue the rule three months before the statutory deadline, when that time 

could have been used to provide notice and receive comments, the Departments deprived plaintiffs 

and other interested parties of an opportunity to be heard, in clear violation of the APA. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1.  Did the Departments act contrary to law and/or exceed their statutory authority when, 

without any basis in the statutory text, they required IDR entities always to select the offer closest 

to the QPA unless the IDR entity determines that the additional statutory factors clearly demon-

strate that the QPA is materially different from the appropriate out-of-network rate? 

2.  Did the Departments have good cause for issuing the presumption without providing 

notice and comment as required by the APA, when they had an entire year to issue final IDR rules 

and there were still three months before the December 27, 2021 statutory deadline for IDR rules 

and five months before the first IDR proceedings would begin?  

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

A. The No Surprises Act 

The NSA creates a comprehensive framework designed to address surprise medical billing, 

as well as supplemental requirements imposed on healthcare providers and plans and issuers to 
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enhance beneficiary transparency regarding the costs they can expect to incur for healthcare items 

and services. The NSA was enacted on December 27, 2020, as part of the Consolidated Appropri-

ations Act, 2021, Pub. L. No. 116-260, 134 Stat. 1182 (2020), and its requirements generally go 

into effect on January 1, 2022. 

The NSA made parallel amendments to provisions of the Public Health Service (“PHS”) 

Act, which is enforced by the Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”); the Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”), which is enforced by the Department of Labor; and 

the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”), which is enforced by the Department of the Treasury. These 

Departments, along with the Office of Personnel Management (which oversees health benefits 

plans offered by carriers under the Federal Employees Health Benefits Act), issued the September 

IFR and are referred to collectively as “the Departments.”2 

The NSA provides that for emergency services furnished by an out-of-network healthcare 

provider and non-emergency services furnished by an out-of-network healthcare provider at an in-

network facility, plans and issuers may not impose a patient cost-sharing requirement that is greater 

than the cost-sharing that would apply had the items or services been furnished by an in-network 

healthcare provider. 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(a)(1)(C)(ii), (b)(1)(A). The cost-sharing requirement 

is calculated using a “recognized amount.” Id. § 300gg-111(a)(1)(C)(iii), (b)(1)(B). The “recog-

nized amount” is (1) an amount determined by an applicable All-Payer Model Agreement under 

section 1115A of the Social Security Act; (2) if there is no applicable All-Payer Model Agreement, 

the amount determined by a “specified State law,” which is a state law that provides a method for 

                                                 
2 The relevant statutory and regulatory provisions at issue in this case generally appear in triplicate. 
The NSA’s IDR provisions are codified at 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(c) (PHS Act), 29 U.S.C. 
§ 1185e(c) (ERISA), and 26 U.S.C. § 9816(c) (IRC). For ease of reference, this brief cites the PHS 
Act provisions and implementing regulations. 
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determining the total amount payable by the patient; or (3) if there is no applicable All-Payer 

Model Agreement and no specified state law, the QPA for that item or service. Id. § 300gg-

111(a)(3)(H). For each item or service, the QPA is statutorily defined as generally being the me-

dian of the contracted rates recognized by the plan or issuer for the same or similar item or service 

furnished by a healthcare provider in the same or similar specialty and in the same geographic 

region. Id. § 300gg-111(a)(3)(E). 

In addition to limiting patient cost-sharing, the NSA also limits the amount that out-of-

network healthcare providers can bill to patients. For covered services, the NSA prohibits out-of-

network healthcare providers from billing a patient for any amount that exceeds the statutorily 

calculated patient cost-sharing amount, unless an exception applies. Instead, the statute obligates 

payors to reimburse out-of-network healthcare providers at the “out-of-network rate” as defined 

in the statute, less any cost-sharing from the patient. Id. § 300gg-111(a)(1)(C)(iv)(II), (b)(1)(D). 

The “out-of-network rate” is determined through a process similar to that for determining 

patient cost-sharing, but with one significant difference. As with patient cost-sharing, healthcare 

provider reimbursement is governed by any applicable All-Payer Model Agreement under section 

1115A of the Social Security Act or, if there is no such agreement, then by any applicable specified 

state law providing a method for determining the total amount of reimbursement for the out-of-

network healthcare provider. Id. § 300gg-111(a)(3)(K). But unlike with patient-cost sharing, if 

there is no applicable All-Payer Model Agreement or specified state law, Congress declined to set 

healthcare provider reimbursement at the QPA or otherwise provide a benchmark or mathematical 

formula.3 Instead, the NSA authorizes payors to make an initial payment in an amount of their 

                                                 
3 Congress considered proposed legislation that would have determined healthcare provider reim-
bursement by relying upon the median in-network rate as a benchmark for calculating payments. 
See, e.g., H.R. 3630, 116th Cong. (2019); S. 1895, 116th Cong. (2019). But Congress ultimately 
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choosing, and then channels reimbursement disputes through a carefully balanced process of open 

negotiation, followed, if necessary, by “baseball-style” arbitration before a certified IDR entity.  

B. The IDR Process 

The NSA creates a detailed IDR process for resolving disputes between healthcare provid-

ers and payors over out-of-network reimbursement. See 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(c). Among other 

things, the statute sets forth rules governing how IDR entities can become certified and selected to 

preside over disputes, id. § 300gg-111(c)(4); rules for when multiple disputed items and services 

can be considered jointly, id. § 300gg-111(c)(3); and rules allocating responsibility for paying the 

IDR entity’s fees, id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(F). As relevant here, the statute also sets out a timeline 

for the IDR process, id. § 300gg-111(c)(1)(B), (c)(4)(F), (c)(5)(A)–(B), and the factors that IDR 

entities “shall” and “shall not” consider in deciding cases, id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)–(D). 

1. The Timeline for the IDR Process 

Congress specified a precise timeline applicable to all parties entering the IDR process. 

Within 30 days of the healthcare provider’s receipt of an initial payment or notice of denial of 

payment from the payor—which can take a month or more from the date of service to receive—

the parties may engage in a 30-day open negotiation process to determine an appropriate payment 

amount. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(1)(A). If the negotiations do not result in an agreed payment amount 

during those 30 days, either party may, within four days following the conclusion of the open 

negotiation period, initiate the IDR process. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(1)(B). 

Once the IDR process is initiated, the parties have three business days jointly to select a 

certified IDR entity to oversee the proceedings. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(4)(F)(i). If they fail to do so, 

                                                 
rejected that approach in favor of an IDR process that, as discussed below, requires an independent 
IDR entity to take all relevant circumstances into account, without designating any single factor 
as more important or entitled to greater weight than the other factors. 
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the relevant agency, not later than six business days after the initiation of the IDR process, must 

select a certified IDR entity. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(4)(F)(ii). Within 10 days thereafter, each party 

must submit (1) an offer for a payment amount, (2) any information requested by the IDR entity 

relating to the offers, and (3) any additional information the party wishes the IDR entity to con-

sider, including information relating to the statutory factors. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(B). 

Within 30 days of the selection of the certified IDR entity, the IDR entity must determine 

which party’s offer to accept, and then notify the parties. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(A). If the parties 

agree to a payment amount before the IDR entity makes its determination, that payment amount 

controls. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(2)(B). If not, then the IDR entity’s decision is “binding” absent a 

fraudulent claim or evidence of factual misrepresentation. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(E)(i). 

2. Factors Governing the Payment Determination 

Congress directed the Departments, “[n]ot later than 1 year after” the NSA’s enactment, 

i.e., by December 27, 2021, to issue regulations establishing a process under which IDR entities 

would determine the appropriate payment amount “in accordance with the succeeding provisions 

of this subsection.” Id. § 300gg-111(c)(2)(A). 

Those “succeeding provisions” describe how the IDR entity should determine the appro-

priate payment amount. Within 30 days after selection of the IDR entity, the IDR entity must 

choose one of the parties’ offers after “taking into account the considerations specified in subpar-

agraph (C).” Id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(A)(i). Subparagraph (C), entitled “Considerations in determi-

nation,” spells out in detail the precise factors the IDR entity “shall consider” in “determining 

which offer is the payment to be applied.” Id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(i). 

In particular, Congress provided that IDR entities “shall consider” (1) the QPA for compa-

rable items or services furnished in the same geographic area, id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(i)(I); (2) 

information on five additional circumstances described in subparagraph (C)(ii), id. § 300gg-
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111(c)(5)(C)(i)(II); (3) any information the IDR entity requests from the parties to the IDR pro-

ceeding, id.; and (4) any additional information submitted by either party relating to its offer, id. 

The five additional circumstances Congress required IDR entities to consider in every case 

are (1) the level of training, experience, and quality and outcomes measurements of the healthcare 

provider that furnished the item or service, id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(ii)(I); (2) the market share of 

the healthcare provider or payor in the geographic region where the item or service was provided, 

id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(ii)(II); (3) the acuity of the individual receiving the item or service or the 

complexity of furnishing such item or service to such individual, id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(ii)(III); 

(4) the teaching status, case mix, and scope of services of the facility that furnished the item or 

service, id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(ii)(IV); and (5) demonstrations of good faith efforts (or lack of 

good faith efforts) made by the healthcare provider or payor to enter into network agreements, and, 

if applicable, contracted rates between the healthcare provider and payor during the previous four 

plan years, id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(ii)(V). 

In subparagraph (D), Congress further specified three factors that IDR entities “shall not 

consider”: (1) the usual and customary charges, (2) the amount the healthcare provider would have 

billed had the NSA’s provisions regarding balance billing not applied, and (3) the amount that 

would have been paid by a public payor, including under Medicare, Medicaid, the Children’s 

Health Insurance Program, TRICARE, or 38 U.S.C. § 1701 et seq. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(D). 

C. Implementing Regulations 

The NSA required the Departments to issue implementing regulations on certain issues by 

specified deadlines, showing that Congress carefully considered how much lead time regulated 

entities would need to come into compliance with implementing regulations. See Compl. ¶ 43. For 

example, the Departments directed the Secretaries of HHS, Labor, and the Treasury, not later than 
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July 1, 2021, to establish the methodology that payors must use to determine the QPA, the infor-

mation payors must share with healthcare providers about how QPAs were calculated, and a pro-

cess to receive complaints about violations by payors of the rules for calculating QPAs. 42 U.S.C. 

§ 300gg-111(a)(2)(B). And Congress directed the same agencies, not later than December 27, 

2021, to promulgate rules implementing the IDR process to resolve disputes between healthcare 

providers and payors regarding out-of-network reimbursement. Id. § 300gg-111(c)(2)(A). 

On July 1, 2021, the Departments made publicly available an interim final rule implement-

ing certain of the NSA’s surprise medical billing requirements. See 86 Fed. Reg. 36,872 (July 13, 

2021) (“July IFR”). Among other provisions, the July IFR set forth a methodology for how payors 

must calculate QPAs, 45 C.F.R. § 149.140(c), and the information payors must share with out-of-

network healthcare providers relating to how they calculated QPAs, id. § 149.140(d).4  

On September 30, 2021, the Departments publicly released a second IFR—at issue here—

implementing the IDR process and other provisions of the NSA. The September IFR was published 

in the Federal Register on October 7, 2021, and became effective on that date. 86 Fed. Reg. at 

55,980. As relevant here, it requires IDR entities to employ a “rebuttable presumption that the 

QPA is the appropriate payment amount.” Id. at 56,060. Specifically, the IDR entity “must,” in 

every case, “select the offer closest to the [QPA] unless” either (1) “the certified IDR entity deter-

mines that credible information submitted by either party … clearly demonstrates that the [QPA] 

is materially different from the appropriate out-of-network rate,” or (2) “the offers are equally 

                                                 
4 Although not material to the legal claims presented here, for a variety of reasons, the QPA will 
often be lower than the fair market value of healthcare providers’ services as reflected by reim-
bursement amounts paid in the marketplace. See Compl. ¶¶ 68–70. Moreover, the information 
payors use to calculate QPAs lies solely within their control, and the mandatory disclosures are 
wholly insufficient to allow the Departments, the IDR entities, and, critically, healthcare providers 
to ascertain whether a payor has correctly calculated the QPA. See id. ¶¶ 47–48, 71. 
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distant from the [QPA] but in opposing directions.” Id. at 56,128. “In these cases, the certified IDR 

entity must select the offer as the out-of-network rate that the certified IDR entity determines best 

represents the value of the qualified IDR item or services, which could be either offer.” Id. 

Thus, under the September IFR, the IDR entity “must begin with the presumption that the 

QPA is the appropriate out-of-network rate,” and must select the offer closest to the QPA, unless 

“credible information” regarding the additional factors “rebuts that presumption” and “clearly 

demonstrates” that the QPA is “materially different” from the appropriate out-of-network rate. Id. 

at 55,996. A “material difference” exists only if “there is substantial likelihood that a reasonable 

person with the training and qualifications of a certified IDR entity making a payment determina-

tion would consider the information important in determining the out of network rate and view the 

information as showing that the QPA is not the appropriate out-of-network rate.” Id. at 55,995.  

As a result, even if an IDR entity concludes, after considering all the factors Congress 

directed it to consider, that the offer farther from the QPA better reflects the value of the item or 

service, the IDR entity may not select that offer unless its proponent satisfies the heightened burden 

set forth in the September IFR. If the IDR entity does select the offer farther from the QPA, it must 

provide “a detailed explanation” justifying its decision to reject the offer closer to the QPA. Id. at 

56,000. That detailed explanation must describe “the additional considerations relied upon, 

whether the information about those considerations submitted by the parties was credible, and the 

basis upon which the certified IDR entity determined that the credible information demonstrated 

that the QPA is materially different from the appropriate out-of-network rate.” Id.  

The Departments identified no statutory text specifically creating these requirements. In-

stead, they asserted the statute is “best interpret[ed]” to require IDR entities to employ a rebuttable 
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presumption in favor of the QPA because, e.g., “[t]he statutory text lists the QPA as the first fac-

tor,” the other factors “are described in a separate paragraph” and are “subject to a prohibition on 

considering certain factors,” and the statute “sets out detailed rules for calculating the QPA” and 

requires the QPA to be used in determining patient cost-sharing. Id. at 55,996. The Departments 

also cited various “policy considerations” for “[a]nchoring” the payment amount to the QPA, 

which they believed would “increase the predictability of IDR outcomes” and “encourage parties 

to reach an agreement outside of the Federal IDR process to avoid the administrative costs.” Id. 

With regard to the decision to issue the IDR regulations as an interim final rule, the De-

partments acknowledged that the APA requires notice and comment for legislative rules such as 

this one. See 5 U.S.C. § 553(b); 86 Fed. Reg. at 56,043. They concluded, however, that good cause 

existed for bypassing that requirement. 86 Fed. Reg. at 56,043. The Departments conceded that 

the full year between the NSA’s enactment on December 27, 2020, and its effective date of January 

1, 2022, “may have allowed for the regulations” to be finalized through notice-and-comment rule-

making before the NSA took effect. Id. at 56,043–44. Nonetheless, the Departments asserted that 

providing notice and comment would be “impracticable and contrary to the public interest.” Id. at 

56,043. Specifically, the Departments asserted that IDR rules needed to be in place to allow parties 

to utilize the IDR process to determine out-of-network rates; that rules issued by the NSA’s effec-

tive date would not provide parties and IDR entities sufficient time to implement the rules’ re-

quirements; and that issuing the rules without notice and comment would allow plans and issuers 

to account for the rules in finalizing their rates and plan offerings. See id. at 56,043–44.  

LEGAL STANDARDS 

Summary judgment is proper “if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to 

any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). 

“In the context of a challenge under the APA, ‘[s]ummary judgment is the proper mechanism for 
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deciding, as a matter of law, whether an agency action is supported by the administrative record 

and consistent with the APA standard of review.’” Texas v. EPA, 389 F. Supp. 3d 497, 503 (S.D. 

Tex. 2019) (quoting Blue Ocean Inst. v. Gutierrez, 585 F. Supp. 2d 36, 41 (D.D.C. 2008)); see, 

e.g., Gulf Fishermens Ass’n v. Nat’l Marine Fisheries Serv., 968 F.3d 454, 459–60 (5th Cir. 2020). 

Under the APA, courts will “hold unlawful and set aside” agency action that is “arbitrary, capri-

cious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law,” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), “in 

excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right,” id. 

§ 706(2)(C), or issued “without observance of procedure required by law,” id. § 706(2)(D). 

In assessing an agency’s statutory interpretation, courts must first determine whether Con-

gress authorized the agency “to speak with the force of law” with regard to the issue at hand. 

United States v. Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 229 (2001). If so, then courts evaluate the agency’s 

interpretation under Chevron U.S.A. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837 (1984). 

Under Chevron, courts “must give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress,” id. 

at 842–43, deferring to the agency’s interpretation only if “the statute is ‘truly ambiguous’ on the 

question” at hand and the agency’s interpretation is a “permissible construction,” Gulf Fishermens 

Ass’n, 968 F.3d at 460. Here, as discussed below, the Departments’ presumption in favor of the 

QPA is not entitled to Chevron deference, both because the statute “unambiguously precludes” the 

Departments’ interpretation, see infra, Part I.A; Gulf Fishermens Ass’n, 968 F.3d at 460, and be-

cause Congress did not authorize the Departments to speak with the force of law regarding the 

standard to be applied by IDR entities in deciding cases, see infra, Part I.B.  

With regard to the Departments’ assertion of good cause for bypassing notice and com-

ment, this Court’s review is de novo. See, e.g., United States v. Johnson, 632 F.3d 912, 928 (5th 

Cir. 2011) (evaluating agency’s claim of good cause without deference to the agency); NRDC v. 
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Nat’l Highway Traffic Safety Admin., 894 F.3d 95, 113 (2d Cir. 2018) (“When reviewing an 

agency’s claim of good cause, which we do de novo, we must ‘examine closely’ the agency’s 

explanation as outlined in the rule.” (citations omitted)); Mack Trucks, Inc. v. EPA, 682 F.3d 87, 

93 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (“On th[e] question [of good cause], it would appear we owe [the agency’s] 

findings no particular deference.”). Regardless, under any standard, the Departments failed to es-

tablish good cause for omitting notice and comment. See infra, Part II; Mack Trucks, 682 F.3d at 

93 (“[E]ven if we were to review EPA’s assertion of ‘good cause’ simply to determine if it is 

arbitrary or capricious, we would still find it lacking.” (citation omitted)); Dialysis Patient Citizens 

v. Burwell, No. 4:17-CV-16, 2017 WL 365271, at *3 (E.D. Tex. Jan. 25, 2017) (agreeing that 

“nothing in Johnson suggests the Fifth Circuit should apply a deferential standard of review for 

the legal question of whether good cause was satisfied,” but noting that the agency’s rationale for 

bypassing notice and comment was “also arbitrary and capricious”). 

ARGUMENT 

I. In Requiring IDR Entities To Presume That The Offer Closest To The QPA Is The 
Appropriate Reimbursement Amount, The Departments Acted Contrary To Law 
And In Excess Of Their Statutory Authority.  

In requiring IDR entities always to select the offer closest to the QPA unless information 

concerning the additional statutory factors rebuts a presumption that the QPA is the appropriate 

out-of-network rate, see 86 Fed. Reg. at 55,995, the Departments, under the guise of “interpreta-

tion,” id. at 56,996, improperly added a material term to the statute and, in so doing, fundamentally 

transformed the IDR process Congress created. This foray into administrative legislation must be 

set aside so that IDR entities can exercise the discretion Congress granted them to consider the full 

range of statutory factors in determining which party’s offer best reflects the value of the items or 

services at issue in light of all the facts and circumstances presented in a given case, without an 

administratively manufactured thumb on the scales in favor of the QPA (and, implicitly, the payor).  
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A. The statute cannot reasonably be “interpreted” to require IDR entities to em-
ploy a rebuttable presumption in favor of the offer closest to the QPA. 

1. The Departments improperly added a material term to the statute. 

In statutory interpretation, courts “usually start with the text, but more telling here is the 

[NSA’s] lack of text.” Gulf Fishermens, 968 F.3d at 460. Although the Departments claimed their 

presumption was the “best interpretation” of the statute, 86 Fed. Reg. at 55,996, they did not iden-

tify a single statutory term or phrase that could be “interpreted” to require IDR entities always to 

“select the offer closest to the qualifying payment amount unless the certified IDR entity deter-

mines that credible information submitted by either party … clearly demonstrates that the [QPA] 

is materially different from the appropriate out-of-network rate,” id. at 56,128. That is because no 

statutory text imposes such a requirement. The statutory text requires only that the IDR entity 

“shall consider,” 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)(i), and “tak[e] into account,” id. § 300gg-

111(c)(5)(A)(i), the QPA and the other factors enumerated in the statute, without prioritizing the 

QPA or subordinating the other factors to it in any way. This case is thus controlled by the “fun-

damental principle of statutory interpretation that absent provisions cannot be supplied by the 

courts”—or by administrative agencies. Little Sisters of the Poor Saints Peter & Paul Home v. 

Pennsylvania, 140 S. Ct. 2367, 2381 (2020) (cleaned up). 

That principle has particular force here, for at least four reasons. First, Congress addressed 

the IDR process in painstaking and exhaustive detail. In addition to specifying such minutiae as, 

for example, the timeline for each step of the process, the rules for jointly considering multiple 

items and services, and the allocation of fees, see supra, at 6–7, Congress spelled out with care the 

precise factors that IDR entities “shall” and “shall not” consider “[i]n determining which offer is 

the payment to be applied,” 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(c)(5)(C)–(D). Congress required IDR entities 

to consider each factor in every case, and it nowhere specified that the QPA (or any other factor, 
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for that matter) was “more equal” than the others or should be given presumptive weight in the 

decisional process. Instead, Congress directed IDR entities to select one of the parties’ offers after 

“taking into account the considerations specified in subparagraph (C),” id. § 300gg-

111(c)(5)(A)(i), leaving it to the IDR entities’ discretion how best to weigh those considerations 

in light of all the facts and circumstances of a particular case. Especially in a statute as prescriptive 

as this one, it is “highly improbable” that Congress intended for the QPA to be given presumptive 

weight but “absentmindedly forgot to mention” it. Transamerica Mortg. Advisors, Inc. v. Lewis, 

444 U.S. 11, 20 (1979) (internal quotation marks omitted).   

Second, “[a]textual judicial”—or administrative—“supplementation is particularly inap-

propriate when, as here, Congress has shown that it knows how to adopt the omitted language or 

provision.” Rotkiske v. Klemm, 140 S. Ct. 355, 361 (2019). Congress knows how to impose a 

“rebuttable presumption” when it wants to; it has done so in many statutes.5 Indeed, elsewhere in 

the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, itself—the same enactment that included the NSA—

Congress imposed a “rebuttable presumption.”6 See Salinas v. U.S. R.R. Ret. Bd., 141 S. Ct. 691, 

698 (2021) (“Where Congress includes particular language in one section of a statute but omits it 

in another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress acts intentionally and 

                                                 
5 See, e.g., 8 U.S.C. § 1158(b)(1)(B)(iii) (creating a “rebuttable presumption” of credibility); 15 
U.S.C. § 3608(b) (creating a “rebuttable presumption” of unconscionability); 16 U.S.C. § 5509(e) 
(creating a “rebuttable presumption” of a statutory violation); 18 U.S.C. § 1388(e) (creating a “re-
buttable presumption” of willfulness); id. § 1469(a) (creating a “rebuttable presumption” of move-
ment in interstate commerce); 21 U.S.C. § 853(d) (creating a “rebuttable presumption” of forfei-
ture); 30 U.S.C. § 1466(e) (creating a “rebuttable presumption” of a statutory violation); 39 U.S.C. 
§ 3008(f) (creating a “rebuttable presumption” of mailing after a specified date); id. § 3653(e) 
(creating a “rebuttable presumption” of statutory compliance); 42 U.S.C. § 667(b)(2) (creating a 
“rebuttable presumption” of correctness of child support calculated according to guidelines); id. 
§ 15942(a) (creating a “rebuttable presumption” of exemption from environmental review).  
6 Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, Section 226 (15 U.S.C. § 1116), “Rebuttable Presump-
tion of Irreparable Harm” (“A plaintiff seeking any such injunction shall be entitled to a rebuttable 
presumption of irreparable harm upon a finding of a violation identified in this subsection…”). 
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purposely in the disparate inclusion or exclusion.” (quoting Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 

23 (1983))). Had Congress intended to create a rebuttable presumption, “it easily could have writ-

ten” the statute to say so, as it has frequently done elsewhere. Texaco Inc. v. Duhe, 274 F.3d 911, 

920 (5th Cir. 2001). “The statute, however, does not do so and no principle of statutory interpre-

tation grants [a court or agency] license simply to rewrite statutory language by ascribing addi-

tional, material terms.” Id.; see also Alabama v. North Carolina, 560 U.S. 330, 352 (2010) (“We 

do not—we cannot—add provisions to a federal statute.”).   

Third, Congress enacted the NSA against a backdrop of case law holding that where, as 

here, a statute sets forth a list of factors for a decision maker to consider without assigning priority 

to any of them, the weighing of the factors is left to the decision maker’s discretion. See, e.g., New 

York v. Reilly, 969 F.2d 1147, 1150 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (“Because Congress did not assign the spe-

cific weight the Administrator should accord each of these factors, the Administrator is free to 

exercise his discretion in this area.”); Cent. Vt. Ry., Inc. v. ICC, 711 F.2d 331, 336 (D.C. Cir. 1983) 

(“As a general rule, when a statute requires an agency to ‘consider’ a factor, the agency must reach 

an express and considered conclusion about the bearing of the factor, but need not give any specific 

weight to the factor.” (cleaned up)); Ramirez v. ICE, 471 F. Supp. 3d 88, 176 (D.D.C. 2020) (“[I]f 

Congress did not mandate any particular structure or weight for an agency’s consideration of a 

variety of factors, then the agency is left with discretion to decide how to account for the consid-

eration factors, and how much weight to give each factor.” (cleaned up)). In light of this case law, 

had Congress wanted to constrain IDR entities’ discretion in considering the statutory factors by 

requiring them to give presumptive weight to the QPA, it was incumbent on Congress to say so. 

Fourth, a presumption in favor of the QPA is no minor detail, but rather a fundamental 

alteration of the IDR process. Under the statute as written, IDR entities would consider all the 
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required factors, without any presumptions, and select the offer that, in the IDR entity’s judgment, 

best represents the value of the items or services. The Departments’ presumption completely reor-

ients the process, placing the QPA at its center and thereby transforming the process from one that 

Congress designed to be “independent” to one that tilts decidedly in favor of payors (who calculate 

the QPA). Indeed, during the legislative process, payors lobbied Congress to use the QPA as a 

benchmark for healthcare provider reimbursement just as it is used for patient cost-sharing; but 

Congress rejected bills to that effect. See, e.g., H.R. 3630, 116th Cong. (2019); S. 1895, 116th 

Cong. (2019). The statute cannot be read to impose such a significant requirement sub silentio. As 

Justice Scalia famously put it, “Congress … does not … hide elephants in mouseholes.” Whitman 

v. Am. Trucking Ass’ns, 531 U.S. 457, 468 (2001). That principle, which typically is invoked when 

a party puts more weight on a minor provision than it can bear, applies a fortiori here, where the 

Departments’ presumption is supported by no provision at all. According to the Departments, 

Congress imposed a game-changing presumption that “the statute does not even mention.” Gulf 

Fishermens, 968 F.3d at 462. Their argument is thus “all elephant and no mousehole.” Id.  

At bottom, “Congress could have limited [IDR entities’] discretion in any number of 

ways,” including by imposing a presumption in favor of the QPA, “but it chose not to do so.” Little 

Sisters, 140 S. Ct. at 2380. The Departments are not at liberty to countermand that decision, under 

the guise of “interpretation” or otherwise. By “adding terms not found in the statute,” and “impos-

ing limits on [IDR entities’] discretion that are not supported by the text,” the Departments “al-

ter[ed], rather than … interpret[ed]” the statute. Id. at 2381.  

2. The Departments’ points are unavailing. 

Unable to identify any statutory text that could even arguably be read to impose a presump-

tion in favor of the QPA, the Departments purported to infer the presumption from isolated bits of 
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statutory structure and avowed “policy considerations.” 86 Fed. Reg. at 55,996 (asserting that var-

ious “statutory elements” show that “the statute contemplates that typically the QPA will be a 

reasonable out-of-network rate”). What already has been said is sufficient to refute this approach. 

The short answer to all of the Departments’ points is that significant new statutory requirements 

cannot be found hiding between the statutory lines or in “implications from ‘penumbras,’ ‘emana-

tions,’ and other legal fictions.” Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpre-

tation of Legal Texts 97 (2012). If Congress had intended to create a presumption in favor of the 

QPA, it would have said so clearly. It did not, and that should end the matter. See id. at 93. 

But the Departments’ points are also unpersuasive on their own terms. Neither separately 

nor together do they provide any basis for the Departments’ presumption. The Departments ob-

served, for example, that “[t]he statutory text lists the QPA as the first factor.” 86 Fed. Reg. at 

55,996. That says nothing about whether Congress intended the offer closest to the QPA to be 

presumptively correct. No canon of interpretation holds that when Congress enumerates factors 

for a decision maker to consider, the first factor should be given greater weight or presumptively 

control the outcome. In any list of factors to be considered, some factor necessarily must be listed 

first. Thus, treating the first-listed factor as entitled to presumptive weight would effectively re-

quire Congress to state before every list of statutory factors that it is not creating a presumption.  

The Departments further observed that “[t]he ‘additional circumstances’” the IDR entity 

must consider “are described in a separate paragraph” and are “subject to a prohibition on consid-

ering certain factors.” Id. So what? This in no way mitigates the force of the statute’s command 

that the IDR entity “shall consider” them. Indeed, those “additional circumstances” are first refer-

enced in the very same paragraph as the QPA (subparagraph (C)(i)). That Congress proceeded to 

describe them in detail in a separate paragraph does not in any way downgrade them to second-
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class status or diminish the requirement that IDR entities “shall consider” them just as much as 

they “shall consider” the QPA. Likewise, that Congress prohibited consideration of certain factors 

in no way elevates the QPA. To the contrary, the meticulous care Congress exhibited in enumer-

ating the factors that IDR entities “shall” and “shall not” consider precludes any inference that 

Congress intended the QPA to be given presumptive weight but somehow neglected to say so. 

Nor does it matter that “whereas the statute provides relatively limited guidance on how to 

consider or define these additional circumstances, the statute sets out detailed rules for calculating 

the QPA.” Id. The QPA is a numerical figure, and it is a benchmark for patient cost-sharing under 

the statute, see 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(a)(3)(H), so it is hardly surprising that Congress set out 

“detailed rules” for calculating it. The additional circumstances Congress required IDR entities to 

consider are largely qualitative factors, like the training and experience of the healthcare provider 

and the complexity of the item or service. And the statute provides precisely the same “guidance 

on how to consider” the additional circumstances as it does for the QPA—it lists them all as factors 

to be considered, together with other information requested by the IDR entity or supplied by the 

parties, without ascribing preeminence to any single factor. How to weigh the various factors in a 

given case is left to the IDR entity’s sound discretion.  

The Departments further observed that the QPA generally will be used to determine patient 

cost-sharing, “indicating that the QPA is a reasonable out-of-network rate.” 86 Fed. Reg. at 55,996. 

But Congress chose a different methodology for determining healthcare provider reimbursement, 

one that involves an independent arbitrator considering all the relevant facts and circumstances, 

showing that Congress clearly did not believe the QPA should be determinative for purposes of 

reimbursement. The Departments may disagree with that choice, but they have no license to nullify 

it by rewriting the statute to make the QPA presumptively controlling in the IDR process.       
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The Departments also noted that the statute requires the Departments “to report how pay-

ment determinations compare to the corresponding QPA.” Id. But this shows only that Congress 

thought it important to collect information about how IDR results compared to the QPA. It says 

nothing at all about the weight to be afforded the QPA in the IDR process. Congress may have 

believed, for example, that IDR decisions would provide valuable, independent information that 

Congress and the Departments could use in assessing the role of the QPA and determining the 

extent to which IDR entities tended to view the QPA as close to an appropriate reimbursement rate 

after considering all relevant circumstances. In that case, making the QPA presumptively control-

ling would frustrate Congress’s informational purpose. In all events, that Congress wanted this 

information reported provides no support for elevating the QPA over the other statutory factors. 

Finally, the Departments may not read new terms into the statute to advance their “policy 

considerations.” Id. It is “a core administrative-law principle that an agency may not rewrite clear 

statutory terms to suit its own sense of how the statute should operate.” Util. Air Regul. Grp. v. 

EPA, 573 U.S. 302, 328 (2014). Whether the Departments’ presumption would make the IDR 

process more “efficien[t]” and “predictab[le]” and “encourage parties to reach an agreement,” 86 

Fed. Reg. at 55,996, is thus beside the point. A presumption that the payor’s offer should always 

be selected might well produce the same results, but it would plainly be incompatible with the 

statutory scheme. So too is the Departments’ presumption in favor of the QPA.  

B. The Departments cannot defend the presumption in favor of the QPA as an 
exercise of purported authority to supplement the statute’s requirements. 

In requiring IDR entities to presume that the offer closest to the QPA is the appropriate 

payment amount, the Departments, in reality, were not “interpreting” the statute at all, but supple-

menting it by adding a requirement that Congress did not impose. While Congress sometimes 
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authorizes agencies to impose new requirements that go beyond those set forth in the statute, the 

Departments’ presumption in favor of the QPA cannot be sustained on that basis, for three reasons. 

First, that was not the rationale the Departments advanced in the rule. The Departments’ 

rationale in the rule was that the rebuttable presumption was “the best interpretation” of the statute. 

86 Fed. Reg. at 55,996. Having claimed in the rule merely to be “interpreting” the statute, the 

Departments’ cannot now defend the rule by asserting that they were exercising authority to sup-

plement the statute. “[A] reviewing court, in dealing with a determination or judgment which an 

administrative agency alone is authorized to make, must judge the propriety of such action solely 

by the grounds invoked by the agency.” SEC v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 196 (1947). That 

means courts “look to what the agency said, not what it might have said”; they “may not accept 

[agency] counsel’s post hoc rationalizations for agency action”; and thus the agency’s action can 

be upheld, if at all, only “on the same basis articulated in the [rule] by the agency itself.” Dish 

Network Corp. v. Nat’l Lab. Rels. Bd., 953 F.3d 370, 379–80 (5th Cir. 2020) (quoting Burlington 

Truck Lines, Inc. v. United States, 371 U.S. 156, 168–69 (1962)). 

Second, the Departments lack authority to issue rules dictating to IDR entities how they 

must decide cases. In authorizing the Departments to promulgate rules implementing the IDR pro-

cess, Congress expressly provided that, under those rules, IDR entities would “determin[e]” the 

payment amount “in accordance with the succeeding provisions of this subsection.” 42 U.S.C. 

§ 300gg-111(c)(2)(A). In those “succeeding provisions,” Congress itself provided all the guidance 

it deemed necessary with respect to IDR entities’ decisional process. And, in marked contrast to 

numerous other provisions of the statute addressing the IDR process where Congress expressly 
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left gaps for the Departments to fill,7 Congress did not assign the Departments any role in dictating 

how IDR entities should weigh the various statutory considerations or determine which party’s 

offer is the appropriate reimbursement amount. See Pharm. Rsch. & Mfrs. of Am. v. HHS, 43 F. 

Supp. 3d 28, 37–39 (D.D.C. 2014) (holding that agency lacked authority to issue legislative rules 

addressing issues as to which Congress had not delegated rulemaking authority). 

Third, even if the Departments had some authority to issue rules regarding IDR entities’ 

decisional process, any such rules would have to be consistent with the statute. The Departments 

clearly could not, for example, issue a rule requiring IDR entities to decide disputes by drawing 

straws, or requiring them always to select the payor’s offer unless the healthcare provider over-

comes a presumption that the payor’s offer is appropriate. Likewise, for all the reasons above, the 

Departments’ presumption in favor of the QPA is inconsistent with the statute. If Congress had 

intended the QPA to be given presumptive effect, it would have said so. Congress’s decision to 

list the QPA as one factor to be considered alongside others, without any indication that it should 

                                                 
7 See 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(c)(1)(B) (the notification initiating the IDR process must contain 
“such information as specified by the Secretary” and the process begins upon submission of the 
notification or “such other date specified by the Secretary”); id. § 300gg-111(c)(3)(A) (“[T]he 
Secretary shall specify criteria under which multiple qualified IDR dispute items and services are 
permitted to be considered jointly as part of a single determination….”); id. § 300gg-
111(c)(3)(A)(iv) (batched items and services must be furnished during a 30-day period “or an al-
ternative period as determined by the Secretary”); id. § 300gg-111(c)(3)(B) (“the Secretary shall 
provide” for the treatment of bundled payments); id. § 300gg-111(c)(4)(A) (“[t]he Secretary … 
shall establish a process to certify” IDR entities); id. § 300gg-111(c)(4)(A)(vii) (the IDR entity 
must meet specified requirements and “such other requirements as determined appropriate by the 
Secretary”); id. § 300gg-111(c)(4)(F) (“[t]he Secretary shall … provide for a method” for selecting 
a certified IDR entity); id. § 300gg-111(c)(7)(C) (to be certified, IDR entities must “submit to the 
Secretary such information as the Secretary determines necessary to carry out the provisions of 
this subsection”); id. § 300gg-111(c)(7)(D) (“[t]he Secretary shall ensure the public reporting” 
does not disclose privileged or confidential information); id. § 300gg-111(c)(8)(A) (fees for par-
ticipating in the IDR process shall be paid “at such time and in such manner as specified by the 
Secretary”); id. § 300gg-111(c)(8)(B) (the amount of the fee is to be “an amount established by 
the Secretary”); id. § 300gg-111(c)(9) (“[t]he Secretary may modify” deadlines or timing require-
ments “in cases of extenuating circumstances, as specified by the Secretary”).  
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be given primacy, precludes any rule giving the QPA presumptive effect. See Nat’l Pork Producers 

Council v. EPA, 635 F.3d 738, 753 (5th Cir. 2011) (holding agency lacked authority “to create 

from whole cloth” new provisions supplementing comprehensive statutory scheme). 

II. The Departments Lacked Good Cause For Bypassing Notice And Comment. 

Because the presumption in favor of the QPA is substantively unlawful, it should be va-

cated on that ground alone, and the Court need not reach the question whether the presumption 

also is procedurally infirm because it was issued without notice and comment. No amount of notice 

and comment could authorize the Departments to read into the statute a requirement that does not 

appear there or to impose a requirement that is inconsistent with Congress’s design. To the extent 

the Court deems it necessary to reach the issue, however, the Departments plainly lacked good 

cause to bypass notice and comment, and that is an independent basis for vacatur. 

Under the APA, before issuing substantive rules, an agency must publish a “notice of pro-

posed rule making,” 5 U.S.C. § 553(b), and “give interested persons an opportunity to participate 

in the rule making through submission of written data, views, or arguments,” id. § 553(c). The 

purpose of these requirements is to “assure fairness and mature consideration of rules having a 

substantial impact on those regulated” and to “allow the agency to educate itself before adopting 

a final order.” Johnson, 632 F.3d at 931 (cleaned up). In this way, notice and comment are designed 

to “ensure that affected parties have an opportunity to participate in and influence agency decision 

making at an early stage, when the agency is more likely to give real consideration to alternative 

ideas.” U.S. Steel Corp. v. EPA, 595 F.2d 207, 214 (5th Cir. 1979). “Notice and comment are not 

mere formalities. They are basic to our system of administrative law.” NRDC, 894 F.3d at 115. 

Because of the fundamental importance of notice and comment to both the quality of and 

public confidence in the administrative process, the APA’s notice-and-comment requirement 

“must be adhered to scrupulously,” and exceptions to it are “narrowly construed.” Texas v. United 
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States, 809 F.3d 134, 171 (5th Cir. 2015), aff’d per curiam by an equally divided court, 136 S. Ct. 

2271 (2016) (mem.). Thus, while an agency may omit notice and comment “when the agency for 

good cause finds … that notice and public procedure thereon are impracticable, unnecessary, or 

contrary to the public interest,” 5 U.S.C. § 553(b)(B), courts have consistently stressed that this 

exception must be “read narrowly in order to avoid providing agencies with an ‘escape clause’ 

from the requirements Congress prescribed,” Johnson, 632 F.3d at 928 (quoting United States v. 

Garner, 767 F.2d 104, 120 (5th Cir. 1985)); see also United States v. Rainbow Fam., 695 F. Supp. 

294, 304 (E.D. Tex. 1988) (the exception must be “narrowly construed and reluctantly counte-

nanced” (quoting Mid-Tex Elec. Coop., Inc. v. FERC, 822 F.2d 1123, 1132 (D.C. Cir. 1987)). 

Accordingly, the good cause exception is reserved for “true emergencies only,” Rainbow 

Fam., 695 F. Supp. at 305, “where delay would do real harm,” U.S. Steel, 595 F.2d at 214; accord 

NRDC, 894 F.3d at 114 (the good cause exception “is generally limited to ‘emergency situations, 

or where delay could result in serious harm.’” (quoting Jifry v. FAA, 370 F.3d 1174, 1179 (D.C. 

Cir. 2004)); California v. Azar, 911 F.3d 558, 575 (9th Cir. 2018) (“[T]he good cause exception is 

usually invoked in emergencies, and an agency must ‘overcome a high bar’ to do so.” (quoting 

United States v. Valverde, 628 F.3d 1159, 1164–65 (9th Cir. 2010)). “The burden is on the agency 

to establish that notice and comment need not be provided.” NRDC, 894 F.3d at 113–14.8 

Here, the Departments cannot satisfy the “high bar” needed to justify proceeding without 

notice and comment. There was ample time to provide notice and comment and issue final IDR 

                                                 
8 Good cause has been found, for example, when an agency needed to act urgently to prevent the 
exposure of children to poisonous pesticides during a harvest season that was “already at hand,” 
Wash. State Farm Bureau v. Marshall, 625 F.2d 296, 307 (9th Cir. 1980), or to prevent fatal heli-
copter accidents, Haw. Helicopter Operators Ass’n v. FAA, 51 F.3d 212, 214 (9th Cir. 1995). 
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rules by the statutory deadline of December 27, 2021. And none of the justifications offered by the 

Departments show that doing so would have been impracticable or contrary to the public interest.  

A. There was ample time for notice and comment. 

When Congress enacted the NSA on December 27, 2020, it directed the Departments to 

issue rules implementing the IDR process “[n]ot later than 1 year after” the NSA’s enactment, i.e., 

by December 27, 2021. 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(c)(2)(A). Congress thus gave the Departments an 

entire year to promulgate IDR rules—more than enough time to issue a notice of proposed rule-

making, consider comments, and issue final rules. See, e.g., Johnson, 632 F.3d at 929 (rejecting 

assertion of good cause where agency waited seven months after statute’s enactment to issue in-

terim rules and observing that “[f]ull notice-and-comment procedures could have been run” in that 

time); Rainbow Fam., 695 F. Supp. at 305 (“Even a six-month deadline has been held sufficient 

time in which to offer proposed regulations for comment.”) 

The Departments, however, waited until late September—nine months—to act. Even if 

there was an exigency at that time—which, as discussed below, there was not—it could not justify 

bypassing notice and comment. Any exigency was the product of the Departments’ own delay, 

and “[g]ood cause cannot arise as a result of the agency’s own delay.” NRDC, 894 F.3d at 114; 

accord Env’t Def. Fund, Inc. v. EPA, 716 F.2d 915, 921 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (“[T]he good cause 

exception does not apply when an alleged ‘emergency’ arises as the result of an agency’s own 

delay ….”). If an agency’s own delay could create good cause, “an agency unwilling to provide 

notice or an opportunity to comment could simply wait until the eve of a statutory, judicial, or 

administrative deadline, then raise up the ‘good cause’ banner and promulgate rules without fol-

lowing APA procedures.” NRDC, 894 F.3d at 114–15 (quoting Council of S. Mountains, Inc. v. 

Donovan, 653 F.2d 573, 581 (D.C. Cir. 1981)). Accordingly, “where the failure to offer a proposed 
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rule for notice and comment may be attributed to the agency’s own dilatory tactics, whether inten-

tional or not, this is a ‘decisive factor’ in rejecting the agency’s claim of ‘good cause.’” Rainbow 

Fam., 695 F. Supp. at 305 (quoting Phila. Citizens in Action v. Schweiker, 669 F.2d 877, 885 (3rd 

Cir. 1982)). The Court need proceed no further. The Departments’ assertion of good cause can and 

should be rejected on this basis alone. See id. at 305–06; NRDC, 894 F.3d at 114–15. 

In any event, even when the Departments issued the September IFR on September 30, 

2021, there was no “true emergenc[y],” Rainbow Fam., 695 F. Supp. at 305, where taking the time 

for notice and comment would have done “real harm,” U.S. Steel, 595 F.2d at 214. Even then, there 

were still three months until the December 27, 2021 statutory deadline for IDR rules, and more 

than five months before IDR entities would begin hearing cases in March 2022.9 The Departments 

could have used the remaining three months before the statutory deadline for notice and comment 

and issued final IDR rules on schedule. See, e.g., U.S. Steel, 595 F.2d at 211, 213 (concluding that 

agency could have provided notice and comment in the sixty days between receipt of required 

information from the state and statutory deadline). 

Had the time for notice and comment been taken, no dire harm would have resulted, nor 

would any statutory purpose have been frustrated. Congress no doubt understood there would be 

lag time between the NSA’s effective date of January 1, 2022, and the first IDR proceedings, and 

it determined that if final IDR rules were issued by December 27, 2021, there would be sufficient 

time to stand up the IDR process. If more lead time had been necessary, Congress would have set 

an earlier deadline, as it did for other rules under the NSA. See 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-111(a)(2)(A)(i) 

                                                 
9 Given the billing cycle for out-of-network services and the statutorily prescribed timeline for 
open negotiation and initiation of the IDR process, see supra, at 6–7, for a claim for an item or 
service furnished on or after January 1, 2022, the soonest a healthcare provider or payor could 
reasonably expect to submit an offer as part of the IDR process is approximately March 1, 2022. 
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(October 1, 2021 deadline for audit process for QPA calculations); id. § 300gg-111(a)(2)(B) (July 

1, 2021 deadline for methodology for payors to determine the QPA).10 

This is especially true of the rules establishing the rebuttable presumption. Unlike other 

IDR rules not challenged here, such as those establishing the requirements for IDR entities to 

become certified, no lead time at all is necessary with regard to any rules concerning the standard 

IDR entities should apply in deciding cases. Even setting aside that no such rules are necessary in 

the first place because the statute is self-executing in this regard, they would not need to be in place 

any sooner than the initiation of the first IDR proceedings. And when the Departments issued the 

rules establishing the presumption in late September 2021, there were still five months until the 

first IDR proceedings would begin in March 2022. Thus, even if there were good cause with regard 

to other portions of the September IFR (which the Court need not decide), there was no conceivable 

justification for issuing the presumption in favor of the QPA without providing interested parties 

notice and an opportunity to comment. See Garner, 767 F.2d at 120 (“[W]e will not allow a regu-

lation otherwise subject to section 553 procedures to piggyback on regulations properly issued in 

response to a sudden exigency ….”); Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Emps. v. Block, 655 F.2d 1153, 1157 

(D.C. Cir. 1981) (holding that regulations responding “to much more than the exigencies of the 

moment” must comply with notice-and-comment requirements).    

B. The Departments’ asserted grounds for good cause are meritless. 

Although the Departments conceded they “may have” been able to provide notice and com-

ment and still promulgate final IDR regulations in time for them to be applicable when the NSA 

took effect, they nonetheless claimed that “it would be impracticable and contrary to the public 

                                                 
10 The two other December 27, 2021 deadlines in the NSA also relate to matters that do not require 
significant lead time. See NSA § 106(d), 134 Stat. at 2856; 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-118 (rules regarding 
reports plans must prepare relating to air ambulance services); 29 U.S.C. § 1191d(a) (rules estab-
lishing reporting format for voluntary reporting by group health plans to states). 
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interest” to take the time needed to provide notice and comment. 86 Fed. Reg. at 56,043–44. None 

of the Departments’ purported justifications, however, comes close to establishing a “strong 

enough reason to invoke the [good cause] exception.” U.S. Steel, 595 F.2d at 214. 

The Departments stated, for example, that payors “require these rules to be in place to 

determine the out-of-network rates” for covered services, and that “[w]ithout these final rules, 

providers … will not be able to resort to the Federal IDR process” to obtain adequate compensation 

for their services. 86 Fed. Reg. at 56,044. But this is merely an explanation for why rules imple-

menting the IDR process are necessary generally. It says nothing whatsoever about why it was 

necessary to issue the rules without notice and comment three months before the statutory deadline 

Congress set for IDR rules and five months before the first IDR proceedings would begin. As 

noted, the Departments conceded it may have been possible to provide notice and comment and 

issue final IDR rules before the NSA took effect on January 1, 2022, see id. at 56,043–44—well 

before anyone would need to invoke the IDR process to determine out-of-network rates. 

The Departments further asserted that rules issued after a notice-and-comment period 

“would not provide sufficient time for the regulated entities to implement the requirements.” Id. 

As discussed above, even if that were true, it would only be because of the Department’s own 

ninth-month delay, which cannot create good cause. And it contradicts Congress’s evident judg-

ment that IDR rules issued by December 27, 2021, would provide sufficient lead time. In any 

event, with regard to the “rebuttable presumption” rules challenged here, the Departments offered 

no persuasive explanation as to why any lead time was necessary. They stated only that “[t]hese 

interim final rules also set up … requirements to which [IDR entities] must adhere in selecting 

payment offers,” and that “IDR entities will need time to … be prepared to conduct payment de-

terminations for plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2022.” Id. at 56,044. These conclusory 
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statements do not remotely show that the Departments’ presumption in favor of the QPA needed 

to be in place five months before the first IDR proceedings would begin. IDR entities did not need 

months to “prepare” to apply the presumption. As long as the presumption was in place before the 

first IDR proceedings began, IDR entities could easily apply it. And even if the presumption had 

not been in place by the time of the first IDR proceedings, the worst that would have happened is 

that IDR entities would have decided cases by considering all the factors Congress required them 

to consider without applying a presumption in favor of the QPA—just as Congress provided. 

Avoiding that outcome is not good cause for bypassing notice and comment. 

Nor is there any merit to the Departments’ claim that good cause existed because issuing 

the IDR rules without notice and comment would “allow plans and issuers to account for the reg-

ulations as they finalize rates and plan offerings.” Id. The claim here appears to be that if plans 

and issuers knew that IDR entities would be required to employ the Departments’ presumption in 

favor of the QPA, they could expect to pay less for covered out-of-network services than they 

otherwise would and could adjust their rates and plan offerings accordingly—a tacit admission 

that the Departments built into the IDR rules a new substantive bias in favor of payors that is not 

present in the statute and that payors thus had not yet incorporated into their rates. See 86 Fed. 

Reg. at 55,996, 56,061 (stating that the presumption will “encourage” parties “to make offers that 

are closer to the QPA,” “aid in reducing prices,” and prevent “higher out-of-network rates”). 

Regardless, this claim boils down to an assertion that it would be desirable to provide reg-

ulatory guidance to payors. But a “desire to provide immediate guidance, without more, does not 

suffice for good cause.” Johnson, 632 F.3d at 929 (quoting United States v. Cain, 583 F.3d 408, 

421 (6th Cir. 2009)); see also California, 911 F.3d at 576 (“[A]n agency’s desire to eliminate more 

quickly legal and regulatory uncertainty is not by itself good cause.”); Valverde, 628 F.3d at 1166 
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(“If ‘good cause’ could be satisfied by an Agency’s assertion … of the need to provide immediate 

guidance and information, then an exception to the notice requirement would be created that would 

swallow the rule.” (cleaned up)). “Moreover, the goal of reducing uncertainty is undercut by the 

[Departments’] request for post-promulgation comments, which could … resul[t] in a rule 

change.” Johnson, 632 F.3d at 929; see 86 Fed. Reg. at 55,985 (“The Departments seek comment 

on all aspects of these interim final rules.”); California, 911 F.3d at 576–77 (“[T]he agencies’ 

request for post-promulgation comments in issuing the IFRs casts further doubt upon the authen-

ticity and efficacy of the asserted need to clear up potential uncertainty, because allowing for post-

promulgation comments implicitly suggests that the rules will be reconsidered and that the level 

of uncertainty is, at best, unchanged.” (cleaned up)). In all events, payors’ asserted interest in reg-

ulatory guidance is “purely economic, which does not supply good cause.” Dialysis Patient, 2017 

WL 365271, at *4 (citing Mack Trucks, 682 F.3d at 95). 

In short, the Departments “were unable to identify any emergency that justified publishing 

[the presumption] without notice and comment.” Id. at *5. Nor did they identify any “real harm” 

that would have resulted if they had taken the time to provide notice and comment before promul-

gating the presumption. U.S. Steel, 595 F.2d at 214. Accordingly, if the rules creating the presump-

tion are not set aside as substantively invalid, they should be set aside as having been unlawfully 

issued “without observance of procedure required by law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(D). 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should vacate, as contrary to law and in excess of 

statutory authority, the provisions of the September IFR requiring IDR entities to employ a rebut-

table presumption in favor of the offer closest to the QPA. See Proposed Order (listing the chal-

lenged provisions). Alternatively, the Court should vacate those provisions as having been unlaw-

fully issued without the notice and comment required by the APA. 
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